ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

2122

23

24

2526

27

28

CLEAR OF A LINDENAN CLEAR COLERT

WILLIAM LESTER WITTER,

Petitioner,

E.K. McDANIEL, Warden, and CATHERINE CORTEZ-MASTO, the Attorney General of the State of Nevada.

Respondents.

Case No. 50447

FILED

MAY 13 2008

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT BY SUPPLY CLERK

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

FRANNY A. FORSMAN
Federal Public Defender
GARY TAYLOR
Assistant Federal Public Defender
GERALD BIERBAUM

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. William Witter is in the custody of Nevada at Ely State Prison pursuant to a state court judgment of conviction and sentence of death. Respondent E.K. McDaniel is the warden of Ely State Prison, and Catherine Cortez-Masto is the Attorney General of the State of Nevada. The Respondents were sued in their official capacities.

Mr. Witter was convicted by a jury of first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, attempted murder with use of a deadly weapon, attempted sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, and burglary. He was sentenced to death by the Honorable Stephen Huffaker, in Case No. C117513, in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County. The jury found four aggravating circumstances: the murder was committed by a person who was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person of another; the murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any burglary; the murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any sexual assault; and, the murder was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest or to effect an escape from custody. Judgment of conviction was entered August 2, 1995. 10 AA 1999.

On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court deleted the preventing lawful arrest aggravating circumstance and affirmed Mr. Witter's conviction and sentence. <u>Witter v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d 886 (1996), <u>cert.denied</u>, 520 U.S. 1217 (1997).

On October 27, 1997, Mr. Witter filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus with the Eighth Judicial District Court in propria persona, requesting the appointment of counsel. Mr. Witter was appointed state post conviction counsel and, on August 11, 1998, post-conviction counsel filed a supplemental brief which failed to refer to evidence or issues outside the appellate record. Following an evidentiary hearing at which only trial and appellate counsel

Pursuant to <u>Crump v. Warden</u>, 113 Nev. 293, 934 P.2d 247 (1997), Mr. Witter (continued...)

testified, the state habeas court denied relief. The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of relief in an unpublished order. Witter v. State, (No. 36927, delivered August 10, 2001).

Mr. Witter filed a <u>pro per petition</u> for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada on September 4, 2001, and the District Court appointed the Law Offices of the Federal Public Defender to represent him. On November 23, 2005, Mr. Witter filed an amended petition for writ of habeas corpus followed by a motion for stay and abeyance on March 7, 2006. Respondents filed a motion to dismiss the petition, arguing Mr. Witter's claims were unexhausted, untimely, and not cognizable in federal habeas review. Respondents also filed an opposition to the motion for stay and abeyance. On November 30, 2006, the United States District Court granted Mr. Witter's motion for stay and abeyance pending the exhaustion of state court remedies.

Mr. Witter filed the instant petition in the state post-conviction court on February 14, 2007, and, after argument of counsel, the state post-conviction court denied relief in open court on August 2, 2007, and August 30, 2007. The state post-conviction court approved the prosecutor's proposed findings of fact on September 25, 2007. Mr. Witter timely filed his notice of appeal.²

¹(...continued)

was entitled to effective assistance of counsel in the prior proceeding.

Mr. Witter filed another petition in the state post-conviction court on April 28, 2008 alleging he is entitled to relief under a Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Polk v. Sandoval</u>, 503 F.3d 903, 909 (9th Cir. 2007). This opinion was released on September 11, 2007, after the state post-conviction court announced its decision in these proceedings.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Witter's death sentence survives even though this Court and the state post-conviction court invalidated three out of the four aggravating circumstances the jury found. The death sentence survives even though the amount of available mitigating evidence increased from trial through the current post-conviction proceedings. Mr. Witter's death sentence survives even though it was largely supported in the trial court by the prosecution's knowing presentation of false gang association testimony.

Mr. Witter's conviction rests on similarly shaky ground, supported by <u>Batson</u> error and error in limiting trial counsel's attempts to death qualify the venire.

The state post-conviction court defaulted all of Mr. Witter's current claims except a claim alleging error from McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) and Bejarano v. State, 146 P.3d 265, 272 (Nev. 2006), and a claim alleging lethal injection executions are unconstitutional.

The state post-conviction court denied the <u>McConnell</u> claim; misidentified the applicable harm analysis and erroneously applied the analysis chosen. The state post-conviction court erroneously denied the lethal injection claim, and relied on inapplicable precedent from this Court.

The state post-conviction court erroneously applied procedural default bars to Mr. Witter's petition and refused to hear Mr. Witter's claims, even though the facts and law supporting those claims were only recently available. The state post-conviction court refused to hear many of Mr. Witter's claims even though Mr. Witter was prevented, by ineffective assistance of the state post-conviction counsel, from raising these claims in the initial state post-conviction petition.

Mr. Witter argued twenty-two issues impacting his conviction and sentence. Each of these issues, when considered separately or cumulatively rendered the current conviction unconscionable.

1	III.	<u>Issues Presented</u>
2		
3 4	A.	Did the state post-conviction court err while conducting harm analysis after striking Mr. Witter's aggravating circumstances under McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) and Bejarano v. State, 146 P.3d 265, 272 (Nev. 2006)?
5	В.	Did the state post-conviction court err by determining the lethal
6		injection execution protocol has been determined not to constitute cruel and unusual punishment pursuant to McConnell v. State, 120 Nev.
7		1043 (2004)?
8	C.	Did the state post-conviction court err in determining Mr. Witter did not demonstrate good cause and prejudice excusing the delay in bringing this petition?
10	D.	Did the state post-conviction court err in holding that ineffective assistance of post conviction counsel was not good cause?
11	. 107	
12	E.	Did the State Post-conviction Court Err to Apply the Doctrine of "Law of the Case?"
13	F.	Were the procedural default rules relied upon by the district court to
14		bar consideration of Mr. Witter's constitutional claims unenforceable because this Court applies them in its discretion and in an inconsistent
15		manner?
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		4

IV. Argument

A. Did the state post-conviction court err while conducting harm analysis after striking Mr. Witter's aggravating circumstances under McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) and Bejarano v. State, 146 P.3d 265, 272 (Nev. 2006)?

In his state post-conviction petition, Mr. Witter contended the jury's reliance on aggravating circumstances including the same conduct upon which the prosecution secured his conviction was unconstitutional under McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) and Bejarano v. State, 146 P.3d 265, 272 (Nev. 2006).³ The state post-conviction court agreed and struck the burglary and sexual assault aggravating circumstances. See 24 AA 5112, pg 3. However, the state post-conviction court itself reweighed the "one remaining aggravator of a prior felony conviction" along with mitigating evidence from the record and held the error "harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt with the aggravator outweighing the mitigators" Id.

The state post-conviction court erred in "reweighing" the evidence and performing a harm analysis. There is no record of which mitigating circumstances the jury determined at Mr. Witter's trial and the state-post conviction court substituted itself as a jury to determine mitigating circumstances. The state post conviction court failed to distinguish the harm analysis by this Court in <u>Bejarano</u> from harm analysis the Court conducted in other cases involving substantial mitigating evidence outside the record. The state post conviction court failed to appropriately consider mitigating evidence which was not a part of the trial record. Finally, the state post conviction court ultimately erred in holding the substantial

Mr. Witter was charged with murder, sexual assault, and burglary. See 1 AA 37. Prosecutors pursued a felony murder theory, charging that the murder was committed with "malice aforethought and premeditation and/or while in the commission of a burglary and/or while in the commission of the attempt sexual assault of Kathryn Terry Cox." Id. Mr. Witter was convicted of all charges. See 10 AA 1999. The jury found the following aggravating circumstances: the "murder was committed while [Mr. Witter] was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any Burglary"; and, the "murder was committed while [Mr. Witter] was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any Sexual Assault." 10 AA 1996.

mitigating circumstances in Mr. Witter's case was outweighed by the sole remaining aggravating circumstance.

The State Post-conviction Court Sat as a Jury

The jury was never asked to "find" which mitigating circumstances were supported by the evidence because the jury verdict form did not allow this designation. Therefore, when the state post-conviction court "re-weighed" the evidence, it made its own factual determination of what evidence was mitigating.

In order to re-weigh punishment evidence, the state post-conviction court sat as a fact-finder—it took the place of Mr. Witter's jury. ⁴ The state post-conviction court reviewed the jury instructions, which designated a number of possible mitigating circumstances, and the punishment phase transcript. 24 AA 5098. Thereafter, the state post conviction court determined which mitigating circumstances were supported by the record.⁵ This determination was a finding of fact. <u>U.S. v. Fields</u> 483 F.3d 313 (5th Cir. 2007) (<u>J. Benevides dissent. p. 368</u>) ("While the actual weighing of the factors is not a 'finding of fact,' the existence of such factors is a 'constitutionally significant factfinding…'); <u>U.S. v. Floyd</u> 945 F.2d 1096 (9th Cir. 1991), ("… we now determine whether… the district court was correct in finding that the mitigating circumstance existed in this case. This is a finding of fact…").

Because the state post-conviction court assumed the role of the jury in the determination of his punishment, Mr. Witter was denied due process and a valid,

Ironically, the state post-conviction court held that it did not sit as a fact-finder. 24 AA 5112.

The state post conviction court held: "the first one . . . is not applicable. . . The second one. . . the Court makes a finding for that mitigator. . . the third one. . . that's not applicable under these facts. . . the fourth one. . . that doesn't apply here. . . . the seventh one the Court finds there was evidence for any other mitigating circumstance." 24 AA 5099-5100.

fundamentally fair sentence.⁶ There was substantial mitigating evidence available and no record of the jury' determination of what circumstances it determined to mitigate Mr. Witter's murder conviction. Due process and fundamental fairness required that a jury be convened to determine the circumstances which mitigated the murder conviction and to weigh such circumstances against the sole aggravating circumstance. United States v. Hilliard, 11 F.3d 618, 620 (6th Cir. 1993), ("An appellate court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the jury."); People v. Ceja, 4 Cal.4th 1134,1138, 1139, 847 P.2d 55 (1993) ("But it is the jury, not the appellate court, which must be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. . . an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the jury."); In re Estate of Lunsford, 160 N.C.App. 125, 132, 585 S.E.2d 245, 250 (2003) ("It is not the role of this [appellate] Court to consider what the trial court could have found or to make our own findings based on our review of the record."); Wesbrook v. State, 29 S.W.3d 103, 111 (Tex.Crim.App.2000); Gomez v. State, 183 S.W.3d 86, 89 (Tex.App.-Tyler 2005, no pet.); <u>Duren v. State</u>, 87 S.W.3d 719, 724 (<u>Tex.App.-Texarkana 2002</u>, no pet.)(Texas criminal jurisprudence is clear: The jury is the exclusive arbiter of the credibility of a witness and it is the duty of the jury to resolve any conflicts in the evidence; it is not the province of an appellate court to play the role of the Monday morning quarterback in that credibility determination). Only after a jury determined which mitigating circumstances existed, and

Mr. Witter is aware of Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 (2002). Mr. Witter contends that the post conviction court may not substitute its judgement for the fact-finder at trial. See People v. Regalado, 108 Cal.App.3d 531, 538-539, (1980) ("It is the sentencing court that determines from the facts and circumstances whether the cited mitigating circumstances in fact were established"); Gu v. Gonzales, 454 F.3d 1014 (9th Cir. 2006) ("It is equally well-settled that it is inappropriate for this court to weigh evidence and determine its probative value"); Dolliver v. United States, 379 F.2d 307, 308 n. 1 (9th Cir.1967) ("An appellate court may not usurp the function of the duly constituted fact finder."); State v. Mason, 160 Wash.2d 910, 162 P.3d 396 (2007) ("Juries routinely consider all characteristics of witnesses ('their relation to the parties, employment, and personal interests') in weighing the value or credibility of their testimony-that is, in fact, the purpose of a jury trial and why appellate courts defer ('with regard to factual conclusions') to the judgment of the fact finder"). Such a substitution replaces a jury trial with an appellate court's discretion.

their weight, will the capital punishment scheme comport with due process, the right to a fair trial, and fundamental fairness. See Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 824, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991)(applying fundamental fairness to the punishment phase of a capital trial).

Inappropriate Harm Analysis

The state post-conviction court held that, in accord with McConnell, supra, "the court reweighs and considers mitigating evidence. "24 AA 5112. In doing so, the state post-conviction court considered only that mitigating evidence which was within the trial record. Thereafter, the state post-conviction court held the sole aggravating circumstance outweighed the mitigating circumstances and that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 24 AA 5112.

In <u>Valerio v. Crawford</u> 306 F.3d 742 (9th Cir. 2002), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals considered whether it was appropriate for a post-conviction court to re-weigh evidence when the jury was provided an aggravating circumstance in error. The Court of Appeals held:

Under <u>Clemons</u>, [v. <u>Mississippi</u>, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990)] the state appellate court reweighs aggravating and mitigating circumstances that have already been found by a jury to exist. The appellate court does no independent factfinding, but rather relies on facts already found by the jury. That is, under <u>Clemons</u>, the appellate court evaluates and "reweighs" the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but it does not independently determine whether those circumstances exist.

<u>Id.</u> at 757. Therefore, whenever aggravating and mitigating circumstances were determined by the jury, a court may "re-weigh" those circumstances if it was later determined that an aggravating circumstance was inappropriate. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Witter's case is distinguishable from <u>Valerio</u>, <u>supra</u>. The state post-conviction court, not Mr. Witter's jury, determined which mitigating circumstances would be included

⁷ <u>See</u> Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, pages 41 -45 (summary of trial counsel's punishment evidence); 11 AA 2258-2264.

in its analysis. Thus, even if it were appropriate for the state post-conviction court to "reweigh" the aggravating circumstances in Mr. Witter's case, see Clemmons, supra, it could only consider those circumstances previously determined by the jury. Because Mr. Witter's jury was never asked to indicate which circumstances it determined to mitigate Mr. Witter's conviction, the state post-conviction court had nothing to re-weigh. The state post conviction court overstepped the constitutional boundary in Mr. Witter's case and assumed the role of the jury.

Bejarano is Distinguishable from Mr. Witter's case

The state post conviction court erred in applying the harm analysis used by this Court in Bejarano, supra, to Mr. Witter's case. In Bejarano, the Nevada Supreme Court struck aggravating circumstances based upon the same conduct which the prosecutors used to secure a first degree murder conviction. Id. 146 P.3d at 274. In deciding whether the defendant was "harmed" by the jury's consideration of invalid aggravating circumstances, the Court re-weighed the remaining aggravating circumstances with the mitigating circumstances. Id., 146 P.3d at 276. However, little mitigating evidence was produced at trial; indeed, the Court concluded "the case in mitigation was not particularly compelling." Id., 146 P.3d at 275-276. The petition for writ of habeas corpus included only one sentence regarding additional mitigating evidence, never produced at trial. Therefore the Court, in its attempt to re-weigh the remaining aggravating circumstances and mitigating circumstances, was never asked to consider substantial mitigating evidence, which was available to trial counsel, but raised only during the post-conviction proceedings.

The analysis used by the Court in <u>Bejarano</u>, should be distinguished from the analysis required in this case. In these state post conviction habeas proceedings Mr. Witter provided substantial mitigating evidence which must be considered in any re-weighing of the sole aggravating circumstance and the mitigating circumstances. But for the violation of Mr. Witter's state and federal constitutional rights to the effective assistance of counsel, the jury

would have considered such evidence when it originally weighed the mitigating and aggravating circumstances. See Archanian v. State, 145 P.3d 1008 Nev. 2006 (an appellate case with no extra record evidence); and contrast Williams v. State, Order Denying En Banc, July 5, 2007 (attachment, Supplemental Opposition to Dismiss); and Williams v. State, Order Affirming in Part, June 22, 2007 (attachment, Supplemental Opposition to Dismiss) (considered mitigating evidence provided in the habeas petition to conduct harm analysis after McConnell error), and State v. Bennett, 119 Nev. 589, 81 P.3d 1 (2003). In Williams and Bennett, the Court struck aggravating circumstances under McConnell, supra, and considered all available mitigating evidence, including evidence raised in post conviction habeas proceedings, in its harm analysis. Bennett at 605, 12. Because of the available mitigating evidence which was never presented at trial, Bejarano was distinguished from Mr. Witter's case and the state court erred in conducting a harm analysis pursuant to Bejarano.

Harm Analysis must Consider All Available Mitigating Evidence

Once the inappropriate aggravating circumstances were struck in Mr. Witter's case, prosecutors argued the state post-conviction court could not consider any mitigating evidence which was not presented at trial. 23 AA 4904. Prosecutors relied on Canape v. State, 109 Nev. 864, 859 P.2d 1059 (1993), an opinion on direct appeal, for the proposition that, when re-weighing evidence, the court cannot consider evidence outside the appellate record. The state post-conviction court sustained this argument and concluded, as a matter of law, "the appropriate inquiry is whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the invalid aggravators, the jury still would have imposed a sentence of death." 24 AA 5114. Therefore, the state post-conviction court refused to consider any of the mitigating evidence which was initially raised in Mr. Witter's post-conviction habeas petition.

<u>Canape</u>, supra, is not applicable to Mr. Witter's case. In <u>Canape</u>, the Court considered a direct appeal from a trial in which no mitigating evidence was offered. <u>Id.</u> at 881 ("We have thoroughly searched the record and find no evidence of mitigating circumstances, even

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