2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

WILLIAM LESTER WITTER,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 50447

RECEIVED
Las Vegas Drop Box
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
2008 AUG 13 PM 3:07

FILED

AUG 22 2008

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

BY S. Young
DEPUTY CLERK

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Order Denying Petition for Writ
of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

GARY TAYLOR
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Texas Bar #19691650
GERALD BIERBAUM
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Texas Bar #24025252
411 East Bonneville Ave., Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 388-6577

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

⁶ The State would agree with this Court's holding in Leslie, 118 Nev. at 782-83, 59 P.3d at 446-47, that the reweighing of aggravators and mitigators by the district court is no different than an appellate court reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence and no different than any other "factual type" determinations that appellate courts make.

1 actually were disposed of in previous proceedings. Because all of the other claims
2 raised in Witter's post-conviction petition were held to have been previously litigated
3 or procedurally barred, the Court properly refused to consider any exhibits presented
4 by Witter in arguing those claims when considering whether the record supported the
5 imposition of the death penalty.

6 Here, a review of the transcripts from Witter's post-conviction petition proves
7 that the district court acted accordingly. Witter's contention that it is ironic that the
8 district court stated it does not sit as a fact finder contains no irony at all. Rather, it is
9 the proper statement of law.⁷

10 Reweighing of evidence is permissible under the Nevada Constitution and does
11 not entail impermissible fact finding. Bejarano, *supra.*, Leslie, 118 Nev. at 782, 59
12 P.3d at 447 (citing Canape, 109 Nev. at 859). Additionally, once an aggravator is
13 stricken, the district court will conduct a reweighing of aggravating and mitigating
14 circumstances or apply a harmless error analysis. Id.; *accord* Browning, 91 P.3d at 51.
15 As such, the district court pulled all evidence from the evidence vault, reviewed it,
16 and reviewed the transcript from the penalty phase.⁸ AA, Vol. 24, 5098.

17 The district court next acknowledged that only one aggravator remained
18 pursuant to NRS 200.033 (2)(b). AA, Vol. 24, 5098. As such, the district court
19 described in detail that Witter was previously convicted in 1996 for stabbing David
20 Rumsey with a butcher knife and the facts surrounding the events. Id.

21 The district court next detailed the possible mitigators available to Witter
22 pursuant to NRS 200.035. The original jury heard evidence on potential mitigating
23 circumstances but was not asked to find the existence of particular mitigators in a
24

25 _____
26 ⁷ Furthermore, a review of the record abrogates Witter's claim that the district court "held" that it was not acting as a fact
27 finder. Rather, the district court was only explaining the process by which it reweighs the aggravators and mitigators
under the harmless error analysis. AA, Vol. 24, 5071.

28 ⁸ All of the information reviewed by the district court was provided by Witter's counsel. In fact, the district court stated
that the information provided by Witter was lengthy and involved. AA, Vol. 24, 5098.

1 special verdict form.⁹ AA, Vol. 10, 1996-8. In regards to NRS 200.035 (1), the
2 district court held that the section was inapplicable in light of the incident that formed
3 the basis for the aggravator¹⁰ plus Witter's California Youth Authority incarceration
4 and other various criminal matters brought forth. AA, Vol. 24, 5099.

5 In regards to NRS 200.035 (2), the district court held that there was evidence
6 put forth that Witter was under an emotional disturbance because he learned that his
7 girlfriend had an abortion on the same day he committed this crime. AA, Vol. 24,
8 5099.

9 In regards to NRS 200.035 (3), the district court held that this was not
10 applicable under the facts because the victim came upon the scene of the attempt
11 sexual assault on his wife and was then killed. AA, Vol. 24, 5099.

12 In regards to NRS 200.035 (4), the district court held that this was not
13 applicable under the facts because Witter acted alone and was the only person
14 involved at the time of the occurrence herein. AA, Vol. 24, 5099. Additionally, in
15 regards to NRS 200.035 (5), the district court also held that this section was
16 inapplicable because there was no evidence that Witter acted under duress or under
17 the domination of another person. AA, Vol. 24, 5099.

18 In regards to NRS 200.035 (6), the district court held that this section was
19 inapplicable because Witter was thirty (30) years-old at the time of the murder. AA,
20 Vol. 24, 5099.

21 In regards to NRS 200.035 (7), that section allowed the district court to
22 consider any other mitigating circumstances. The district court held that there was
23 evidence presented of an extremely dysfunctional family wherein alcohol, controlled
24 substance abuse, and psychological issues were present. The district court also
25 acknowledged that it reviewed evidence concerning whether Witter had a low or
26

27
28

⁹ There is no right to have a jury specify the mitigating circumstances it has found. Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 23 P.3d 227 (2001).

¹⁰ The 1996 conviction for stabbing David Rumsey.

1 below average intelligence, had possible Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
2 (ADHD), a possible Antisocial Personality Disorder and possible Developmental
3 Arithmetic Disorder. AA, Vol. 24, 5099-5100.

4 The district court then described on the record, taking into account each of the
5 above mitigating circumstances, that it reweighed the aggravators and mitigators as
6 enumerated in the above Nevada Supreme Court case law, and held that there was
7 “harmless-error beyond a reasonable doubt with the aggravator outweighing the
8 mitigators.” AA, Vol. 24, 5100. Although the district court judge claimed to have
9 “found” certain mitigators, in context the court was simply articulating that certain
10 mitigators would be considered in the harmless error analysis based on whether
11 evidence had been presented in support of them at the original trial. *Id.*

12 Therefore, because this Court has held that “the Federal Constitution does not
13 prevent a state appellate court from upholding a death sentence that is based in part on
14 an invalid or improperly defined aggravating circumstance either by reweighing of the
15 aggravating and mitigating evidence or by harmless-error review,” *Haberstroh*, 119
16 Nev. 173, 69 P.3d at 682, it cannot be argued that the district court sat as a jury. A
17 harmless-error review only requires a district court to perform a new sentencing
18 calculus to determine whether the error involving an invalid aggravator was harmless
19 beyond a reasonable doubt. This is exactly what the district court did. As such,
20 Witter’s conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed.

21 B

22 THE DISTRICT COURT CONDUCTED A PROPER HARMLESS 23 ERROR ANALYSIS

24 Witter argues that the district court erred by conducting an improper harmless
25 error analysis. More specifically, Witter asserts that a jury should have conducted the
26 harmless error analysis because the district court did not know what Witter’s jury
27 considered mitigating. These arguments lack merit.

28

1 First, the State incorporates its argument from Sect. I, A above against Witter's
2 claim that a jury and not the district court should have conducted the harmless error
3 analysis. Second, Witter's claim that a proper harmless error analysis was not possible
4 because not everything that was in front of the jury was in front of the district court is
5 belied by the record.

6 Here, a review of the transcripts from Witter's post-conviction petition proves
7 that the district court acted accordingly. The district court pulled all evidence from the
8 evidence vault, reviewed it, and reviewed the transcript from the penalty phase. AA,
9 Vol. 24, 5098. Furthermore, all of the information reviewed by the district court was
10 provided by Witter's counsel. In fact, the district court stated on the record that the
11 information provided by Witter was lengthy and involved. AA, Vol. 24, 5098.

12 If anything, Witter was afforded an opportunity to put more information in front
13 of the district court than the jury received. However, even if the district court viewed
14 more evidence of mitigation than that which should have been allowed, this Court
15 would not be justified in reversing the judgment if a proper application of the law to
16 the facts demands its affirmance. Goldsworthy v. Johnson, 45 Nev. 355, 363, 204 P.
17 505 (1922). See also, DeCarnelle v. Guimont, 101 Nev. 412, 705 P.2d 650 (1985);
18 Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres, 97 Nev. 399, 632 P.2d 1155 (1981); Wyatt v. State, 86
19 Nev. 294, 468 P.2d 338 (1970). If the judgment is right upon any theory, even though
20 it be upon one never thought of by the trial court, and is sustained by the findings and
21 evidence, it is our duty to affirm it for in doing so we do not have to lend approval to
22 the mental processes of the trial court." Goldsworthy, 45 Nev. at 363, 203 P. 505.
23 Here, as discussed in Sect. I, A, the harmless error analysis was correct in determining
24 that nothing more than harmless error existed. For these reasons, Witter's conviction
25 and sentence of death should be affirmed.

26 C

27 **WITTER INCORRECTLY DISTINGUISHES BEJARANO FROM HIS OWN**
28 **CASE**

1 Witter argues that the analysis used by this Court in Bejarano should be
2 distinguished from the analysis required in this case because Witter has provided
3 substantial mitigating evidence compared to that of Bejarano on post-conviction. This
4 argument lacks merit because Witter misses the Court's holding in Bejarano.

5 Pursuant to McConnell, this Court's "reweighing" requires answering only one
6 question: "Is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the invalid aggravators the
7 jury still would have imposed a sentence of death?" However, this Court has guarded
8 that the term "reweigh" is analogous to harmless error. Bejarano, 122 Nev. 1066, 146
9 P.3d at 276, fn. 68.¹¹ Therefore, should the only error be harmless, then Witter has no
10 relief.

11 Here, it is clear that pursuant to NRS 200.033 (2)(b) that one aggravator
12 remained. AA, Vol. 24, 5098. At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, the district
13 court described in detail that Witter was previously convicted in 1996 for stabbing
14 David Rumsey with a butcher knife and the facts surrounding the events. Id.
15 Additionally, the district court stated that it had reviewed all evidence from the
16 evidence vault and reviewed the transcript from the penalty phase. AA, Vol. 24, 5098.
17 Ultimately, the district court held that it took into account each mitigating
18 circumstance, that it reweighed the aggravator and mitigators as enumerated in
19 Nevada Supreme Court case law, and held that there was "harmless-error beyond a
20 reasonable doubt with the aggravator outweighing the mitigators." AA, Vol. 24, 5100.

21 This is exactly what this Court provides capital defendants and as such, there
22 can be no error that grants Witter relief just because he offered a larger number of
23 mitigators than Bejarano did. In the harmless error analysis, the court simply removes
24 the felony-aggravators from the equation and considers whether the jury still would
25 have imposed a sentence of death. Bejarano, *supra*. Witter received every protection
26

27 ¹¹ "We have held that it is proper for this court to engage in reweighing or harmless-error analysis when a jury has
28 erroneously relied upon an invalid aggravating circumstance." Bejarano, 122 Nev. 1066, 146 P.3d at 276, fn. 68; *See*
Haberstroh, 119 Nev. at 183, 69 P.3d at 682-84; *accord* Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 741, 110 S.Ct. 1441
(1990).

1 as guaranteed by this Court when the district court made a finding of harmless error.
2 Therefore, Witter's conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed.

3 **D**

4 **WITTER INCORRECTLY ARGUES THAT THE HARMLESS ERROR**
5 **ANALYSIS MUST CONSIDER ALL AVAILABLE MITIGATING EVIDENCE**

6 Witter asserts that the district court erred because Witter was not allowed to
7 present mitigating evidence extraneous to the evidence presented at trial. Witter's
8 argument lacks merit because this Court has established case law contrary to Witter's
9 position.

10 The legal standard and reasoning process by which this court is to evaluate the
11 McConnell claim has been explained and implemented by this Court in at least three
12 different published cases. Bejarano, 122 Nev. 1066, 146 P.3d 265; Rippo v. State,
13 122 Nev. 1086, 146 P.3d 279 (2006); Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019, 145 P.3d
14 1008 (2006). In Bejarano, the Nevada Supreme Court explained the re-weighing
15 process as follows:

16
17 *Reweighting requires us to answer the following question: **Is it clear***
18 ***beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the invalid aggravators the jury***
19 ***still would have imposed a sentence of death?** If we answer this*
20 *question "yes," then the errors were harmless, and Bejarano's McConnell*
21 *claim is procedurally barred for lack of a showing of prejudice. If we*
22 *answer this question "no," then prejudice has been shown, and we must*
23 *remand to the district court for a new penalty hearing. Id. citing State v.*
24 *Bennett (Bennett III), 119 Nev. 589, 604, 81 P.3d 1, 11-12 (2003); Leslie*
25 *v. Warden, 118 Nev. 773, 782-83, 59 P.3d 440, 446-7 (2002).*

26 The Bejarano Court then reviewed only that evidence, both aggravating and
27 mitigating, that had been presented at the original penalty hearing absent the invalid
28 felony-aggravators. Id. Although other procedurally defaulted claims existed in the
case, such were not considered in the reweighing process. Id. A proper reweighing or

1 harmless error analysis does not *add* to what the jury already found, but asks only
2 whether the outcome would have been the same *without* the alleged error.

3 In a harmless error analysis, the court simply removes the felony-aggravators
4 from the equation and considers whether the jury still would have imposed a sentence
5 of death. Bejarano, *supra*. Removal of the felony aggravators does not change in any
6 way the evidence that was admitted in the penalty hearing. The mere labeling of a
7 prior conviction as an aggravator has only an “inconsequential” impact that can not
8 fairly be regarded as a constitutional defect in the sentencing process. See Brown v.
9 Sanders, 546 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 884 (2006). Faced with exactly the same evidence
10 in aggravation and mitigation, the jury obviously would have still sentenced Witter to
11 death.

12 Even the case authority relied upon by the defense, follows the same
13 reweighing process of looking only at the evidence actually presented to the jury
14 when an aggravating circumstance is subsequently invalidated. Leslie v. Warden, 118
15 Nev. 773, 59 P.3d 440 (2002). Although in Leslie the invalidation of the “at random
16 and without apparent motive” aggravator was not found harmless and a new penalty
17 hearing was ordered in that case, the reweighing analysis did not include new matters
18 outside the record. Id. House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 518, 126 S.Ct. 2064 (2006), is
19 distinguished because it is an actual innocence case based on newly discovered
20 evidence. In that case, prisoners asserting innocence as a gateway to defaulted claims
21 “must establish that, *in light of new evidence*, it is more likely than not that no
22 reasonable juror would have found petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id.
23 In the case of “actual innocence” of the death penalty, petitioner must show that “no
24 reasonable juror would have found him eligible for the death penalty. See Sawyer v.
25 Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 112 S.Ct. 2514 (1992). Such exception is concerned with
26 actual as opposed to legal innocence. Smith v. Murray, 477 U.S. 527, 106 S.Ct. 2661
27 (1986). A McConnell error, on the other hand, has nothing to do with newly
28 discovered evidence or wrongly admitted evidence. Rather, it concerns only an

1 invalid aggravating circumstance in a legal instruction that should not have been given
2 to the jury.

3 Contrary to case law, Witter is arguing for a change in law by rejecting the kind
4 of harmless error analysis engaged in by this Court in Bejarano, Rippo, and
5 Archanian, *supra*. However, the district court is bound by this precedent and in the
6 meantime, the law on reweighing remains that when invalidating an aggravating
7 circumstance, the harmless error analysis does not include new evidence that was
8 never presented to the jury. Bejarano, Rippo, and Archanian, *supra*. Therefore,
9 Witter's conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed.

10 **E**

11 **THE REMAINING AGGRAVATOR DOES OUTWEIGH THE MITIGATING**
12 **CIRCUMSTANCES**

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